# UPDATE OF ACTIVITIES WITHIN APEC

**ASIA-PACIFIC ECONOMIC COOPERATION** 

**FEBRUARY 1998** 

Published by the APEC Secretariat 438 Alexandra Road #14-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958

Tel: (65) 276 1880 Fax: (65) 276 1775

E-mail: <a href="mailto:info@mail.apecsec.org.sg">info@mail.apecsec.org.sg</a>
Website: <a href="http://www.apecsec.org.sg">http://www.apecsec.org.sg</a>

© 1998 APEC Secretariat

APEC #98-SE-05.1 ISSN 0219-1113

# **Contents**

Introduction	v
Committee on Trade and Investment	1
Tariffs and Non-Tariff Measures	2
Services	4
Investment	5
Standards and Conformance	6
Customs Procedures	7
Intellectual Property Rights	9
Competition Policy	10
Government Procurement	11
Deregulation	12
Rules of Origin	13
Dispute Mediation	14
Mobility of Business People	15
Implementation of Uruguay Round Outcomes	16
Economic Committee	17
Budget and Administrative Committee	19
Working Groups	
Energy	20
Fisheries	22
Human Resources Development	23
Industrial Science and Technology	25
Marine Resource Conservation	26
Telecommunications	28
Tourism	30
Trade and Investment Data Review	31
Trade Promotion	32
Transportation	33
Policy Level Group on Small and Medium Enterprises	34
Agricultural Technical Cooperation Experts Group	36
Sustainable Development	37
TILF Special Account	39
Public Affairs	40
Communications and Database System	41
Research and Analysis	42
Study Centres Consortium	44
APEC Contacts	
Member Economies, Members Designate, Official Observers	47
Abbreviations	51
Index	53

# **Introduction**

The office of the Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) Secretariat in Singapore provides the central link for all APEC activities among the various APEC fora. The Secretariat and its Program Directors serve as the institutional memory and point of coordination for APEC.

This is the third year that the APEC Secretariat has produced the *Update*. Its purpose is to provide the reader with a broad overview of APEC fora activities in 1998 and to facilitate more direct involvement in APEC's work by the business and private sector. The *Update* is organized to reflect the structure of APEC. There are sections in the *Update* on each of the three committees, the ten working groups, the one policy level group, and the one experts group. In addition, the *Update* contains sections on the APEC Study Centres Consortium and several cross-cutting issues that are of interest to more than one APEC fora.

Nineteen ninety-eight is Malaysia's year for hosting APEC. Building upon Canada's achievements as the host of APEC in 1997, Malaysia will consolidate activities in Trade and Investment Liberalization and Facilitation and further raise the profile of Economic and Technical Cooperation. Malaysia will emphasize capacity-building. She will work closely with other APEC economies in developing initiatives in the areas of human resources development, harnessing technologies for the future, and broadening outreach efforts about APEC to a wider segment of the business community. Malaysia will also work on Management issues, with emphasis on rationalizing APEC fora.

Four important decisions from the 1997 Leaders and Ministers' meetings that particularly affect Malaysia's work plan are as follows:

First, Leaders met in Vancouver (24-25 November 1997) amidst a financial crisis. Leaders directly addressed the crisis and expressed their continued commitment to open market principles. They instructed APEC in cooperation with other actors to "intensify its economic and technical cooperation, giving priority to upgrading financial systems, enhancing cooperation among market regulators and supervisors, and other measures to help improve the integrity and functioning of financial markets."

Second, Ministers agreed to early voluntary sectoral liberalization in 15 areas with a view to having liberalization measures in nine of those areas ready for implementation in 1999. The nine areas are: environmental goods and services, fish and fish products, forest products, medical equipment and instruments, telecommunications mutual recognition agreement, energy, toys, gems and jewelry, and chemicals. Leaders instructed Trade Ministers to "finalize detailed targets and timelines" for liberalization of the nine sectors by their next meeting in Kuching, Malaysia on 22-23 June 1998.

Third, Ministers endorsed the establishment of a Senior Officials Meeting (SOM) Subcommittee on Economic and Technical Cooperation (ECOTECH).

Fourth, Leaders agreed to "welcome Peru, Russia and Vietnam as new members of the APEC community, effective in 1998."

Leaders and Ministers also emphasized the importance of assisting Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs); they encouraged greater participation by businesses in APEC's work, and introduced several new initiatives in the areas of: electronic commerce, emergency preparedness, and infectious diseases.

Malaysia will pursue all of these initiatives in 1998. This work will build a greater sense of community in the Asia-Pacific and will bring APEC economies closer to realizing the objective of free and open trade in the region by 2010 for industrialized economies and by 2020 for developing economies. All the APEC activities for 1998 will peak at the Leaders' Meeting in Kuala Lumpur on 17-18 November.

I hope that the *Update* will be useful to you as an introduction and reference, and that it will provide you with helpful information about the work that APEC fora perform. For more detailed information, please feel free to contact the individuals listed in the *Update*. You can also visit the APEC Secretariat's Internet website at

**http://www.apecsec.org.sg**. The website is the most comprehensive, current source for information on APEC.

Ambassador Dato' Noor Adlan Executive Director APEC Secretariat, Singapore

# **Committee on Trade and Investment**

The Committee on Trade and Investment (CTI) was established by the *Declaration on an APEC Trade and Investment Framework* in November 1993.

CTI coordinates APEC's work on liberalizing and facilitating trade and investment (refer to the *Bogor Declaration* 1994). It works to reduce impediments to business activity in 15 specific areas outlined in the *Osaka Action Agenda*: tariffs and non-tariff measures; services; investment; standards and conformance; customs procedures; intellectual property rights; competition policy; government procurement; deregulation; rules of origin; dispute mediation; mobility of business people; implementation of the Uruguay Round outcomes; and information-gathering and analysis.

CTI also provides a forum for discussion of trade policy issues. Its chair for 1998 is Ambassador Edsel T. Custodio of the Philippines. Activities in CTI's 15 work areas are outlined under the relevant sections in the *Update*.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

CTI engages in regular outreach efforts to business via the APEC Business Advisory Council and directly through seminars, speeches, the Internet, publications, and media relations. The Pacific Economic Cooperation Council (PECC) regularly attends CTI meetings, providing analytical and business input. The business sector plays a key role on technical work areas (for example, standards and conformance) by providing specialized input.

#### **Achievements**

During 1997 the CTI focused its work in three major areas. The CTI:

- Implemented and improved Collective Action Plans (CAPs) which will significantly lower costs and reduce barriers to the movement of goods and services. (Major individual achievements are outlined under the relevant sections.)
- Improved Individual Action Plan (IAP) format guidelines to which member economies should adhere in preparing their IAPs in 1998.
- Assisted Ministers in identifying potential sectors for early voluntary liberalization.

At the Vancouver Ministerial Meeting, Ministers agreed to early voluntary sector liberalization (i.e. liberalization before the agreed goal of 2010 for industrialized economies and 2020 for developing economies) in 15 areas with a view to having liberalization measures in the first nine of those areas ready for implementation in 1999. The 15 areas are: environmental goods and services; fish and fish products; forest products; medical equipment and instruments; telecommunications mutual recognition arrangement (MRA); energy sector; toys; gems and jewelry; chemicals; oilseeds and oilseed products; food sector; natural and synthetic rubber; fertilizers; automotive; and civil aircraft. Leaders instructed Ministers responsible for trade to "finalize detailed targets and timelines" for liberalization of the first nine sectors by their next meeting in Kuching, Malaysia on 22-23 June 1998.

#### **Next Steps**

CTI will continue to implement, improve, and expand Collective Action Plans across all areas of the *Osaka Action Agenda*.

#### **Key Contacts**

APEC Secretariat
Mr Tsunehiro Ogawa
Director (Program)
438 Alexandra Road
#13-00 Alexandra Point
Singapore 119958
Tal: 65-276-1880
APEC Secretariat
Ms Bridget Romanes
Director (Program)
438 Alexandra Road
#13-00 Alexandra Point
Singapore 119958
Tal: 65-276-1880

Tel: 65-276-1880 Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775 Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: <u>to@mail.apecsec.org.sg</u>
E-mail: <u>br@mail.apecsec.org.sg</u>

# **Tariffs and Non-tariff Measures**

Tariff and Tariffs and Non-Tariff Measures (NTMs) are two of the 15 specific areas under CTI outlined in the *Osaka Action Agenda* through which APEC member economies are working to eliminate tariff and non-tariff barriers to trade. Member economies are committed to creating a region of free and open trade and investment no later than 2010 for industrialized economies and 2020 for developing economies.

The Collective Action Plans for Tariffs and NTMs require APEC members to: develop a computerized tariff database (APEC Tariff Database); pursue incorporation of information on NTMs into a future version of the APEC tariff database; compile a list of measures recognized as non-tariff impediments to trade; compile a list of products affected by those impediments; and identify industries in which the progressive reduction of Tariffs and NTMs may have a positive impact on trade and economic growth in the Asia-Pacific region, or for which there is regional industry support for early liberalization.

A new Market Access Group (MAG) has been established in 1998 to handle the CTI's work on Tariffs and NTMs. The convenor is Ms Ng Kim Neo, Senior Director, Trade Development Board of Singapore.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

APEC member economies consult their private sectors regularly. Business views have been incorporated in the development of the APEC Tariff Database, which is also sponsored by the private sector (Federal Express).

Businesses and academia provide important input to the CTI's work on Tariff and NTMs, particularly through analytical work performed by the Pacific Economic Cooperation Council (PECC). Businesses that would like to become more involved in the CTI's work on Tariff and NTMs should contact the APEC office in their member economies (see page 47 for Member Economy contact information).

#### **Achievements**

The computerized APEC Tariff Database, sponsored by Federal Express, incorporating the applied tariffs of APEC member economies, was launched in May 1997. The data was provided by individual member economies and is based on the Harmonized System (HS) Code. The database is publicly accessible through the Internet at <a href="http://www.apectariff.org">http://www.apectariff.org</a>. APEC is interested in receiving your comments about the database, please e-mail them to Mr Terry Lee at <a href="mailto:tl@mail.apecsec.org.sg">tl@mail.apecsec.org.sg</a>.

#### **Next Steps**

During 1998, the CTI will perform the following work on Tariff and NTMs through the MAG:

- Undertake an information resource study on voluntary sectoral liberalization in APEC.
- Update the APEC Tariff Database twice a year to keep the information current.
- Identify ways to expand the APEC Tariff database to include information on NTMs.
- Exchange information among member economies on NTMs and export subsidies through the World Trade Organization (WTO).

#### **Key Contacts**

#### **CTI Convenor**

Ms Ng Kim Neo Senior Director Singapore Trade Development Board 230 Victoria Street #07-00 Bugis Junction Office Tower Singapore 188024

Tel: 65-337-6628 Fax: 65-337-6898

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Ms Sulaimah Mahmood Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: sbm@mail.apecsec.org.sg

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Terry Lee Director (Information Systems) (see address above)

E-mail: tl@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Services**

The objective of the work on Services in APEC is to progressively both reduce restrictions on market access for trade in services and provide Most Favored Nation (MFN) treatment and national treatment for trade in services. Each economy will contribute positively to the WTO negotiations on trade in services, expand commitments under the General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS) on market access and

national treatment, and eliminate MFN exemptions where appropriate. Each member economy will also consider the undertaking of additional actions to facilitate the supply of services. Collectively, the APEC economies will take actions with regard to services in telecommunications, transportation, energy, and tourism. They will also continue to seek Collective Actions in other service sectors.

At its January 1997 meeting, the CTI decided to establish an informal Group on Services (GOS) in order to pursue work on services outlined in the *Osaka Action Agenda* (OAA). The first task of the newly formed GOS was to formulate a work program for 1997, including ways to meet the OAA's requirement that member economies continue to seek Collective Actions in other service sectors. The Group's mandate is to address the Trade and Investment Liberalization and Facilitation (TILF) tasks contained in the OAA and in directions from Leaders, Ministers, the Senior Officials Meeting (SOM), and the CTI, building upon the existing body of work on Services and related aspects within APEC. Chile is the convenor for the GOS.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

In 1998 the People's Republic of China will host a number of seminars on trade in services which will enhance business and private sector participation. Seminars on the measurement of trade in services and their corresponding statistics will also be held.

#### **Achievements**

As mandated by the OAA, one of the major aims of the GOS is to elaborate a matrix of Collective Actions in Services. The *Manila Action Plan* contained a matrix of Collective Actions by the four working groups relevant to Services: Energy, Telecommunications, Transportation, and Tourism. In response to the Leaders' call for Collective Actions in service sectors beyond the four already specified, the GOS finalized a Collective Action Plan (CAP) in the area of services in 1997.

Other achievements in 1997 included: 1) a review of trade in services arrangements within APEC, including the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA), the Australia and New Zealand Closer Economic Relations Trade Agreement (ANZCERTA), and the ASEAN Free Trade Area (AFTA); and 2) the compilation of a list prepared by the APEC Secretariat of existing databases containing statistical information on trade in services.

#### **Next Steps**

The GOS plans to compile a list of measures that effect, either positively or negatively, trade and investment in all service sectors. It will also identify requirements for provision of professional services in member economies and make such information available to business in an accessible and user-friendly format.

#### **Key Contacts**

Convenor

Mr Juan Bournas Head of APEC Department Ministry of Foreign Affairs APEC Direction Alameda 1315, 2nd Floor Santiago, Chile

Tel: 56-2-6960-0043

**APEC Secretariat** 

Mr Sun Yuanjiang Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958

Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775 Fax: 56-2-6960-0639 E-mail: sy@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Investment**

The Investment Experts' Group (IEG) is a sub-group of the APEC Committee on Trade and Investment (CTI). It was established in 1994 to bring together officials in the region involved in the regulation of foreign investment. Its main role is to assist the CTI in achieving the investment-related components of APEC's liberalization and facilitation agenda. Mr Neil Hyden (Australia, Commonwealth Treasury) is the current chair of the IEG

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

The IEG seeks views from the business sector about priorities for APEC's investment liberalization and facilitation agenda through its annual Investment Symposium.

#### **Achievements**

The IEG conducts an annual Investment Symposium at which business representatives and investment officials meet to discuss issues. Three symposia have been held since 1995. The 1997 Investment Symposium, *Enhancing the Environment for Investment in APEC*, took place in Hong Kong in October. The symposia have provided valuable input into APEC's investment reform priorities and suggested ways to improve the investment environment in the APEC region.

#### **Next Steps**

The IEG plans to implement further liberalization of investment regimes of member economies. It also aims to improve the technical skills of officials who deal with investment projects in member economies through a range of training programs.

The IEG will:

- Regularly update the APEC Investment Guide on the Internet so that it remains relevant to the needs of business.
- Conduct regular policy discussions in IEG meetings that focus on key issues relating to investment practices.

#### **Key Contacts**

#### Chair

Mr Neil Hyden APEC Investment Experts' Group International Economy Division Department of the Treasury Parkes Place, Parkes ACT 2600

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Sun Yuanjiang Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Australia Tel: 65-276-1880 Tel: 616-263-3642 Fax: 65-276-1775

Fax: 616-263-3390 E-mail: neil.hyden@treasury.gov.au Fax: 65-276-1775 E-mail: sy@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Standards and Conformance**

The CTI Sub-committee on Standards and Conformance (SCSC) was established by the *Declaration on an APEC Standards and Conformance Framework* (November 1994).

The principal objectives of the SCSC are to: encourage alignment of members' standards with international standards; achieve mutual recognition among APEC economies of conformity assessment in regulated and voluntary sectors; promote cooperation for technical infrastructure development in order to facilitate broad participation in mutual recognition arrangements in both regulated and voluntary sectors; and ensure the transparency of the standards and conformity assessments of APEC economies.

The Chairman for the SCSC in 1998 is Mr A. Aziz Mat, Director General, Department of Standards, Malaysia.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

Representatives from specialist regional bodies are invited to SCSC meetings, and business people occasionally attend SCSC meetings as part of member economies' delegations. Representatives from the private sector have attended seminars and conferences organized under the auspices of the SCSC.

#### **Achievements**

SCSC achievements during 1997 included:

- Completion of Guidelines for the Preparation, Adoption and Review of Technical Regulations.
- Completion and Internet dissemination of *APEC Food MRA Supplementary Material*.
- Internet publication of APEC Contact points for Standards and Conformance Information.
- Submission of Progress Reports on alignment with international standards.
- Execution of a Technical Infrastructure Development survey (1997 TILF Project).
- Compilation of recommendations to improve transparency following an evaluation of responses to the 1996 Transparency Survey.
- Seminar on *Environmental Management Standards and their Implications on Global Trade* held in April 1997.

 Training Programmes on Standards and Conformity Assessment Schemes held in March and November 1997 (APEC Partners for Progress Project).

#### **Next Steps**

The SCSC will continue to implement and improve collective action plans in the area of standards and conformance.

#### **Key Contacts**

Chair

Mr A. Aziz Mat Director General, Department of Standards 21<sup>st</sup> floor, Wisma MPSA Persiaran Perbandaran

Malaysia

Tel: 60-3-559-8033 Fax: 60-3-559-2497

E-mail: azizmat@dsml.gov.my

**APEC Secretariat** 

Mr Tsunehiro Ogawa Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: to@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Customs Procedures**

The Customs Procedures Group of Customs Experts was converted into a formal CTI Sub-committee on Customs Procedures (SCCP) in 1995. Its objective is to facilitate trade in the Asia-Pacific region by simplifying and harmonizing customs procedures.

The Chairman of the SCCP in 1998 is Mr Madehi bin Kolek, Deputy Director-General, Royal Customs and Excise Department, Malaysia. The SCCP was chaired by Canada in 1997.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

Private sector representatives such as customs brokers, importers, exporters, freight forwarders and business people have attended the annual APEC Customs–Industry Symposia held since 1993.

The SCCP also worked with the International Air Transport Association to organize and conduct a 'United Nations Rules for Electronic Data Interchange for Administration, Commerce and Transport' (UN/EDIFACT) seminar in April 1997 for members as part of the SCCP comprehensive technical assistance program.

#### **Achievements**

The SCCP's achievements during 1997 included:

 Development of the first phase of the technical assistance training programs for its members in four of the eleven areas under its common action plans; WTO valuation

- agreement, UN/EDIFACT, the Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property (TRIPS), and Advance Ruling Systems.
- Development of comprehensive multi-year technical assistance programs in the following four areas: HS Convention, Clear Appeal Provisions, Temporary Importations, and Common Data Elements.
- Conducting seminars and workshops on: rules of origin, risk management and computer applications, and UN/EDIFACT; and conducting its fifth annual public and private sector Customs–Industry symposia.
- Publication of A Blueprint for Customs Modernization: working with Business for a faster, better border. The Blueprint describes, in practical terms, customs simplification and harmonization in the Asia-Pacific region. Its purpose is both to facilitate business planning by providing SCCP/APEC's views on where customs modernization is headed and to serve as a benchmark against which APEC Customs Administrations can measure their progress on modernization.

#### **Next Steps**

The SCCP will continue to implement and improve Collective Action Plans in the areas of customs procedures. It will also periodically update the *Blueprint for Customs Modernization* to reflect the evolving trade environment.

The SCCP will identify and pursue projects on the regional enhancement of harmonized and simplified customs procedures and on enforcement matters related to trade facilitation. The SCCP will undertake joint projects with business and private sector organizations related to trade facilitation, and will promote other projects that contribute to the common development of human resources.

#### **Key Contacts**

#### Chair

Mr Madehi bin Kolek Deputy Director-General Royal Customs and Excise Department Block 11, Government Offices Complex Jalan Duta 50596

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia Tel: 1-613-954-6990 Fax: 1-613-954-6990

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Ms Sulaimah Mahmood Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: sbm@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Intellectual Property Rights**

The Intellectual Property Rights (IPR) experts have carried out the work program since 1996 to achieve the planned Collective Actions as well as to enhance APEC-wide cooperation in the following areas: deepening the dialogue on intellectual property policy; surveying and exchanging information on the current status of IPR protection and administrative systems; studying measures for the effective enforcement of IPR; fully

implementing the TRIPS Agreement no later than 2000 and facilitating technical cooperation to that end.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

The APEC Symposium on Enforcement of Intellectual Property Rights (18–19 July 1997, Taipei) attracted wide participation from the private sector. A contact list of public, business and private sector experts on IPR is available on the APEC homepage <a href="http://www.apec.org.sg">http://www.apec.org.sg</a>

#### **Achievements**

Key achievements of the IPR experts group for 1997 included:

- Launch of the IPR Information Mall on the APEC homepage.
- Conducting training programs on Management of Industrial Property Rights in Thailand (February and November 1997).
- Discussion of the US draft Memorandum of Understanding of Trademark Application with a view to the facilitation of the application for trademark registration in multiple APEC economies.

#### **Next Steps**

The IPR experts will continue to promote technical cooperation, targeting the year 2000 to fully implement the TRIPS Agreement. Other tasks are the development of guiding principles on IPR enforcement; improvement of the protection of well-known marks; and continuing discussions to conclude an agreement on trademark application mailboxes.

#### **Key Contacts**

#### Chair

Mr Shigeo Takakura Director for International Cooperation, Patent Office Ministry of International Trade & Industry

3-4-3 Kasumigaseki Chiyoda-ku

Tokyo 100, Japan Tel: 81-3-3581-1898 Fax: 81-3-3581-0762

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Tsunehiro Ogawa Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: to@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Competition Policy**

The globalization of business has highlighted the importance of competition issues. APEC's objective in this work area is to enhance the competitive environment of the region. In November 1994, APEC Ministers agreed that the Committee on Trade and Investment (CTI) would develop an understanding of competition issues, in particular competition laws and policies of economies in the region. The CTI should learn how competition laws and policies affect flows of trade and investment in the APEC region and identify potential areas of technical cooperation among member economies. In 1996, the *Osaka Action Agenda* work programs for competition policy and law, and deregulation were combined, in view of the linkages between the two issues (see the Deregulation update).

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

Businesses and academia provide important input to APEC's work on competition policy, particularly through analytical work performed by PECC and seminars. Promoting dialogue with the business community on competition policy and law remains a priority.

#### **Achievements**

Three annual workshops have been held, covering issues such as competition policy and law; technical assistance; linkages between competition policy and trade policy; objectives and mechanisms of competition policy; interrelationship between competition policy and deregulation; regulation of natural monopolies; and occupational regulation.

During 1997, progress in this work area included:

- Training seminars for officials working in the competition policy and law areas;
- Construction by Chinese Taipei of a publicly accessible database on APEC competition policy and law; and
- Conducting a Workshop on Competition Policy and Deregulation (Quebec City).

#### **Next Steps**

Future focus will be on the identification of priority issues for APEC in competition policy and laws, and continuing exchanges of information and expertise on that topic.

#### **Key Contacts**

#### Convenor

Mr Mark Steel Director

Competition Policy & Enterprise Branch

Ministry of Commerce

P.O. Box 1473

Wellington, New Zealand

Tel: 64-4-474-2915 Fax: 64-4-499-1791

#### Tel: 64-4-474-2915

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Dr Mignon Chan

Director (Research and Analysis)

438 Alexandra Road #14-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958

Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: mc@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# Government Procurement

The Government Procurement Experts Group (GPEG) was established in 1995. Hong Kong, China is the current Chair of the GPEG. The *Osaka Action Agenda* of November 1995 commits APEC economies to 'develop a common understanding on government procurement policies and systems' and to 'achieve liberalization of government procurement markets throughout the Asia-Pacific region in accordance with the principles and objectives of the *Bogor Declaration*.'

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

Business people have attended GPEG educational programs.

#### **Achievements**

In 1997, GPEG:

- Held a seminar on Bid Challenge Systems in Chinese Taipei, and a Government Procurement (GP) Training Program in the People's Republic of China as part of its ongoing education program to develop a common understanding about GP.
- Improved and expanded the APEC GP homepage to include more detailed information about more members' policies and procedures, including their returns to a questionnaire survey, and addition of new links to members' individual websites, listing specific trade opportunities

http://www.apecsec.org.sg/govtproc/gphome.html.

 Contributed to the WTO's study on Transparency in GP by providing information on APEC members' GP regimes (the survey returns), their IAP commitments in the area of GP, and APEC views on the elements of the principle of transparency.

#### **Next Steps**

GPEG will continue work on developing non-binding principles on GP and consider ways to support GP work in other multilateral fora. Members plan to develop, by 2000, a set of non-binding principles on GP based on the free-trade principles already embraced by APEC.

#### **Key Contacts**

#### Chair

Miss Adeline Wong Assistant Director-General of Trade Trade Department Trade Department Tower 700 Nathan Road Kowloon, Hong Kong, China

Tel: 85-2-2398-5305

Fax: 85-2-2789-2491 (or 2787-7799)

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Tom Engle Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #14-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: te@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Deregulation**

Unilateral deregulation by APEC economies makes an important contribution to trade and investment liberalization and facilitation. Transparency in regulatory regimes and the elimination of trade-impeding or unnecessarily restrictive regulations are the key objectives of APEC work in the deregulation area. This work is undertaken by the Committee on Trade and Investment (CTI). In 1996, the *Osaka Action Agenda* work programs for competition policy and law, and deregulation, were combined, in view of the linkages between the two issues (see Competition Policy update).

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

Businesses and academia provide important input to APEC's work on deregulation, particularly through analytical work performed by PECC and seminars. Promoting dialogue with the business community on deregulation is a key focus for the future.

#### **Achievements**

Highlights of work on deregulation in 1997 included:

- Publication on the Internet of the 1997 Report on Deregulation Initiatives in APEC
   Member Economies. Its objective is to promote transparency in regulations, provide
   a basis for further APEC initiatives on deregulation, and provide a user-friendly
   source of information for the private sector.
- Conducting the 1997 Workshop on Competition Policy and Deregulation (see Competition Policy update for details).

#### **Next Steps**

The focus will be on information sharing, dialogue, and study in regard to best practices in deregulation. In 1998 a further Workshop on Competition Policy and Deregulation will be held and a *1998 Report on Deregulation Initiatives* will be published. A Symposium on Regulatory Reform is under consideration.

#### **Key Contacts**

Convenor
Mr Mark Steel
Director
Competition Policy & Enterprise Branch
Ministry of Commerce
P.O. Box 1473
Wellington, New Zealand

Tel: 64-4-474-2915 Fax: 64-4-499-1791 Ms Bridget Romanes Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

**APEC Secretariat** 

Fax: 65-276-1880

E-mail: br@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Rules of Origin**

The Rules of Origin issue is covered by the CTI in its plenary and informal meetings. APEC member economies, through CTI, will:

- Gather information on APEC economies' respective rules of origin and develop a compendium of rules of origin for the use of the business and private sector;
- Facilitate, complement and accelerate, in the short term, World Trade
   Organization/World Customs Organization (WTO/WCO) work on harmonization of
   non-preferential rules of origin; and
- Study the implication of rules of origin on the free flow of trade and investment.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

A representative from a specialist international body, the WCO, was invited as a guest speaker at the Rules of Origin seminar (Philippines, August 1996).

#### **Achievements**

The Compendium of Rules of Origin of APEC Member Economies, 1997 was published both on the Internet and in print. The book is targeted at helping the private and business sector to better understand rules of origin in APEC economies.

#### **Next Steps**

CTI will continue its information exchange among member economies on rules of origin requirements, and assess APEC member economies' compliance with procedural obligations in the WTO *Agreement on Rules of Origin*.

#### **Key Contacts**

#### Convenor

Ms Jane Earley
Director, APEC Affairs
Office of the US Trade Representative
Office of Asia-Pacific & APEC
600 17th Street, NW
Washington, DC 20508

USA

Tel: 1-202-395-6813 Fax: 1-202-395-9515 E-mail: jearley@ustr.gov

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Ms Sulaimah Mahmood Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Tel: 65-276-1880

Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: sbm@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Dispute Mediation**

Trade and other economic disputes have negative implications for the cooperation that APEC is designed to promote (see Bogor *APEC Leaders' Declaration*, 1994). The Dispute Mediation Experts' Group (DMEG) was set up in 1995 to explore ways of cooperative dispute-solving. It focuses on government and private disputes, and on promoting transparency in laws and regulations as a means of dispute avoidance (see *Osaka Action Agenda* 1995). The DMEG is chaired by Canada.

APEC regards WTO dispute settlement as the primary channel for solving disputes. APEC can have a role in helping to resolve and avoid disputes through non-adversarial and voluntary approaches. (APEC is not a rules-based organization, so it is not possible for it to establish a formal, binding dispute settlement mechanism.)

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

Academics, lawyers, arbitration experts, mediators, and business leaders provide valued input into APEC's work on disputes.

#### **Achievements**

Highlights of the DMEG's work in 1997 included:

- Publication of International Commercial Disputes: a Guide to Arbitration and Dispute Resolution in APEC Member Economies.
- Conducting a training seminar on the WTO Dispute Settlement Understanding, and conducting policy discussions and information sharing on dispute issues.

#### **Next Steps**

The DMEG will focus on improving the dispute mediation sections of APEC members' IAPs. The DMEG will also conduct further policy discussions on dispute settlement and resolution mechanisms and a seminar on transnational commercial disputes.

#### **Key Contacts**

#### Chair

Ms Valerie Hughes General Counsel, Trade Law Division Dept of Foreign Affairs & Intern'l Trade Lester B. Pearson Building 125 Sussex Drive, Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0G2 Canada

Tel: 1-613-943-2803 Fax: 1-613-944-3213

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Ms Bridget Romanes Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Tel: 65-276-1880

Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: br@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Mobility of Business People**

The *Osaka Action Agenda* of November 1995 commits APEC members to enhance business mobility by exchanging information on regulatory regimes, streamlining the processing of short-term business visitor visas and procedures for temporary residence of business people, and maintaining a dialogue on these issues with the business community.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

The APEC Business Advisory Council (ABAC) has made facilitation of business travel a priority. The CTI's agenda on business mobility has been guided by ABAC's recommendations. Business has also been closely consulted in the development of the Business Travel Card scheme and the introduction of other APEC initiatives.

#### **Achievements**

In 1997:

- APEC members published a revised second edition of the *APEC Business Travel Handbook* which provides information on their short term business visa requirements and contact information for offices in the APEC region that issue visas. *The Handbook* can be purchased from the Secretariat. It is available on the APEC homepage at http://www.apecsec.org.sg.
- Individual members have taken steps to facilitate business travel, such as by expanding visa-waiver programs or introducing multiple-entry visas.
- Some members initiated a trial of the APEC Business Travel Card, which offers accredited business travelers visa-free travel and expedited airport processing when visiting participating economies (Australia, Korea and the Philippines). Chile and Hong Kong, China have announced their intention to join the scheme in 1998. More economies are expected to consider participation following assessment of the trial.

#### **Next Steps**

Participating economies will evaluate the Business Travel Card trial and report to other members, with a view, if successful, to increasing participation. Members will also assess other measures to facilitate short-term business travel, such as expanding visawaiver arrangements and applying new technologies to border management.

Members will exchange and publish information on regulations affecting temporary residence of business people and consider options for liberalizing those regulations.

#### **Key Contacts**

CTI Convenor
Mr Rod Smith
Director
APEC Trade Facilitation Section
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade
Canberra ACT 2600
Australia

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Tom Engle Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #14-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880 Tel: 612-6261-2437 Fax: 65-276-1775

Fax: 612-6261-3009 E-mail: te@mail.apecsec.org.sg

E-mail: rod.smith@dfat.gov.au

# Implementation of Uruguay Round Outcomes

Since its creation in 1989, APEC has taken the position that it should build on the open multilateral trading system. Thus APEC Ministers and Leaders committed themselves to an early and successful conclusion of the Uruguay Round (UR), and agreed after its conclusion to carry out UR commitments fully without delay.

The task of this area is to promote opportunities for training and exchange of views and experiences on challenges and solutions related to implementation of the UR outcomes. The goal is full and effective implementation of UR outcomes within the agreed time frame, in a manner fully consistent with the letter and spirit of the WTO Agreement.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

The business and private sector has not usually participated in the UR Implementation seminars and workshops. Member economies will consider whether to hold periodic seminars with the business and private sector on UR Implementation in the future.

#### **Achievements**

In 1997, four workshops and seminars were held to promote APEC work in the following areas: WTO Dispute Settlement Understanding, TRIMs Agreement, Valuation Agreement and TRIPs Agreement.

#### **Next Steps**

Member economies will consider participation in additional implementation seminars, and discuss a subsequent UR Implementation seminar to enhance participation in the WTO built-in agenda and to maintain the momentum for liberalization in APEC and the WTO. Member economies will also contribute to an annual review to monitor progress on UR Implementation, and identify provisions of the UR Agreement that are especially relevant to APEC work.

#### **Key Contacts**

Convenor
Ms Jane Earley
Director, APEC Affairs
Office of the US Trade Representative

APEC Secretariat Mr Shin Jhong-Weon Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road Office of Asia-Pacific & APEC 600 17th Street, NW Washington, DC 20508, USA

Fax: 1-202-395-9515 E-mail: jearley@ustr.gov

Tel: 1-202-395-6813

#13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: sjw@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Economic Committee**

The Economic Committee was established at the Sixth APEC Ministerial Meeting in Jakarta in November 1994, when the Ministers agreed to transform the Ad Hoc Group on Economic Trends and Issues into a formal policy committee. The Committee serves as a forum for member economies to exchange information and provide views and analyses on economic issues in the region. It aims to promote common understanding within APEC on, and disseminate information concerning, economic linkages and longer-term economic trends and issues in the region. The Committee undertakes analytical work on both trade and investment liberalization and facilitation matters and on cross-cutting economic and technical cooperation issues.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

As a policy-level forum, the Economic Committee does not have direct participation by the business and private sector at its plenary sessions but the Pacific Economic Cooperation Council (PECC) attends as an observer.

Representatives of the business and private sector, including experts in the key issues of food, energy, environment, and population, attended the Symposium on the Impact of Expanding Population and Economic Growth on Food, Energy and the Environment (FEEEP) held in September 1997.

Business people are an important element of each economy's delegation to the annual Public-Business/Private Sector Dialogue on Infrastructure. Both small and large firms are represented. Business input is critical to the conclusions of the Dialogue.

#### **Achievements**

In 1997 the Committee:

- Prepared and published the annual APEC Economic Outlook, which reviews member economies' recent economic performance and future prospects. The theme of the 1997 Outlook was "open regionalism." The Committee also published three related books: The Impact of Trade Liberalization in APEC, The Impact of Investment Liberalization in APEC, and The Impact of Sub-regionalism on APEC. All of these titles can be purchased from the APEC Secretariat; an order form is available on the APEC homepage.
- Organized the third Public-Business/Private Sector Dialogue on Infrastructure
  Development, held in Los Cabos, Mexico which focused on long-term planning for

infrastructure development. The proceedings of the Dialogue were published by the Committee.

- Organized a major symposium on FEEEP, held in Saskatoon, Canada to consider the
  interlinkages between FEEEP issues, to which non-government organizations and
  the academic and business communities, in addition to APEC member economy
  government officials, contributed. An interim FEEEP report drawing together
  APEC's work on food, fisheries, energy and sustainable development was prepared
  for Economic Leaders and Ministers.
- Contributed to APEC's work on infrastructure through the activities of the Infrastructure Workshop, in particular made a substantial contribution to developing the framework endorsed by Leaders and Ministers for strengthening economic and technical cooperation on infrastructure.
- Published a study on Foreign Direct Investment and Market Framework Policies: Reducing Friction in APEC policies on Competition and Intellectual Property.

#### **Next Steps**

The Committee will prepare and publish the 1998 APEC *Economic Outlook*, which will be coordinated by the People's Republic of China. The Outlook will focus on the role of Science and Technology issues in economic growth. Research work on Intra-regional Migration will be completed in 1998. A substantive report on APEC's response to the interlinked FEEEP issues will be prepared for the 1998 APEC Economic Leaders' Meeting. The Committee will also organize the 1998 Public-Business/Private Sector Dialogue on Infrastructure, which will be held in Chinese Taipei in May 1998. A major project on trade and the environment was launched in 1997, with outputs expected in 1998, including a seminar to discuss the conclusions of the study and the establishment of a database on environmental measures which impact on trade liberalization and facilitation.

More broadly, the Committee will pursue its program of analytical work on crosscutting issues, in support of both the Trade and Investment Liberalization and Facilitation (TILF) and Economic and Technical Cooperation (ECOTECH) Agendas.

#### **Key Contacts**

#### Chair

Dr John M Curtis
Senior Policy Advisor and Coordinator
Trade and Economic Policy Branch
Department of Foreign Affairs &
International Trade
Lester B. Pearson Building
125 Sussex Drive
Ottawa, Ontario

Tel: 1-613-992-7776 Fax: 1-613-992-4695

K1A 0G2 Canada

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Ms Julie Gould Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: jg@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Budget and Administrative Committee**

The Senior Officials' Meeting (SOM) in September 1993 agreed to establish the Budget and Administrative Committee (BAC) to advise APEC Senior Officials on budgetary, administrative and managerial issues. The Committee assesses and makes recommendations on the overall budget structure, considers budget requests, drafts the annual APEC budget, and examines all questions relating to the APEC budget and budgetary processes. The BAC also monitors and evaluates the operations and overall performance of working groups, and makes recommendations to the SOM for improved efficiency and effectiveness.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

As an internal administrative forum, the BAC does not have direct participation by the business and private sector at its sessions.

#### **Achievements**

The BAC has performed the functions set out above. The BAC usually holds two regular meetings each year. These are supplemented, if necessary, by *ad hoc* meetings.

#### **Next Steps**

The BAC will continue its advisory, monitoring and assessment functions and its role in relation to APEC budgetary and administrative matters. The Committee's other tasks in 1998 are expected to include:

- Monitoring the expenditures under the APEC Central Fund and recommending adjustments to the budget as appropriate;
- Monitoring the progress of Central Fund-financed projects carried out by APEC committees and working groups and considering ways to strengthen this function;
- Approving funding requests under the 1999 budget and drawing up the draft 1999 APEC budget;
- Reviewing the proliferation of APEC databases;
- Reviewing the common unit cost items for budgeting;
- Reviewing the members' contribution formula;
- Applying revised document classification guidelines to BAC documents;
- Examining publications related matters; and
- Considering a new system for selecting the Chair of the Committee.

#### **Key Contacts**

Chair

Mr Thomas Tso Director Hong Kong Economic and Trade Office

9 Temasek Boulevard Suntec Tower Two #34-01

Singapore 038989 Tel: 65-338-1771 Fax: 65-339-2112

E-mail: <u>hketo@pacific.net.sg</u>

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Gordon Leung Director (Finance) 438 Alexandra Road #14-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958

Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: gl@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Energy**

The Energy Working Group (EWG), which is shepherded by Australia, was launched in 1990. The objective of the EWG is to maximize the energy sector's contribution to the region's economic and social well being, while mitigating the environmental effects of energy supply and use. The EWG contributes to decision-making through frank and open discussion of members' energy policies and planning priorities, sharing basic resource demand and supply outlook data, and considering the regional energy policy implications and responses to wide-reaching energy-related issues.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

The business/private sector is involved in the work of the EWG through the EWG's five Expert Groups and is represented at EWG meetings by the PECC Energy Forum. In 1996, the EWG formed the Ad Hoc Business Forum to develop and advise on policy issues that would be addressed by the EWG relating to power infrastructure. Business participates in, and supports, EWG events such as seminars, training programs and technology demonstrations. A business sector—Ministerial dialogue was held in conjunction with the Energy Ministers' meeting in Edmonton in 1997. Energy Ministers have asked the EWG to look at ways to sustain and expand its interaction with business.

#### **Achievements**

The EWG has:

- Published APEC Energy Statistics on a regular basis, consisting of annual and
  quarterly data covering energy balances, final energy consumption, supply and
  demand by energy sources and electricity, and stock changes for APEC member
  economies.
- Developed, and obtained the agreement by Energy Ministers to implement 14 Rational Energy Policy Principles which give impetus to the reform of energy policies in member economies. Ministers in Edmonton (1997) agreed that significant progress had been made in implementing the non-binding principles and that they would continue to review progress regularly.

- Held the second Energy Ministers' meetings (Edmonton, August 1997).
- Gained endorsement by Energy Ministers (1997) of the non-binding principles contained in the *Manual of Best Practice Principles for Independent Power Producers (IPPs)*, aimed at mobilizing capital for private sector investment in power infrastructure.
- Secured endorsement by Ministers of a set of non-binding principles for good environmental practice aimed at ensuring new power infrastructure additions in APEC economies are environmentally sound.
- Conducted a program of seminars, training courses and information exchange
  activities aimed at promoting new and renewable energy technologies, more efficient
  energy production and use, and the mitigation of the environmental impact of energy
  production and use, including through the application of clean fossil energy
  technologies.
- Upgraded and expanded its Internet website resources aimed at facilitating power infrastructure investment.

#### **Next Steps**

During 1998 the EWG will continue its work program based on the *Osaka Action Program for Energy* and the priorities established by Ministers and Economic Leaders including:

- Developing and publishing a comprehensive Regional Energy Supply and Demand Outlook to the year 2010.
- Making significant progress towards the establishment of a comprehensive linked database of minerals investment opportunities in the APEC region.
- Commencement of implementation of the directions given at the Edmonton Ministerial meeting including:
  - work on facilitating natural gas infrastructure and trading system development;
  - additional progress on cooperation in energy standards;
  - further consideration of the environmental aspects of power infrastructure;
  - an expanded program on energy efficiency.

The EWG will present outcomes and recommendations on its current priority activities to the third Energy Ministers' meeting in Japan in October 1998.

#### **Key Contacts**

Manager Mr Paul Ross APEC Section

**Energy Division** 

Department of Primary Industries &

Energy

GPO Box 858 Canberra ACT 2601

Australia

Tel: 61-2-6272-3252 Fax: 61-2-6272-3741

E-mail: paul.ross@dpie.gov.au

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Yang Yafei Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958

Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: yy@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Fisheries**

The Fisheries Working Group (FWG) aims to: promote the conservation and sustainable use of fisheries resources, promote sustainable development of aquaculture and habitat preservation; seek solutions to common fisheries resource management problems and aquaculture disease control; enhance food safety and quality of fish and fisheries products, and promote sector-specific work relating to trade and investment liberalization and facilitation.

Australia is the lead shepherd for two years. Its term started in July 1997.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

The business and private sector does not participate in Fisheries Working Group meetings, but in some cases it has been involved at the project level. The FWG will develop procedures to improve the involvement of business in its activities.

#### **Achievements**

The FWG's achievements in 1997 included:

- Publication of an Inventory of Fisheries Administrations and Organizations in APEC Members (1997);
- Two technical workshops on seafood inspection systems (Bangkok, October 1997 and Bangkok, November 1997);
- Preparation of a 'how-to' manual on trade in airshipped seafood for publication in early 1998;
- Phase I (tariffs) of the project on Trade and Investment Liberalization in Fisheries;
- Six workshops on auditing Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points (HACCP) and quality programs.

#### **Next Steps**

The FWG will continue to be engaged in the long-term fisheries trade study project that analyzes sectoral trade issues over a period of four years, covering tariffs, non-tariff measures, investment measures, and subsidies. The FWG will undertake an economic analysis of the impact of tariffs on free trade and investment in the fisheries sector in the Asia-Pacific region. The FWG will also discuss issues relating to aquaculture and study the impact of longline fishing.

#### **Key Contacts**

#### **Lead Shepherd**

Mr John Hartwell First Assistant Secretary Petroleum and Fisheries Division Department of Primary Industries and Energy GPO Box 858, Canberra ACT 2601 Australia

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Chirachai Punkrasin Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880 Tel: 61-6-6272-4480 Fax: 65-276-1775

Fax: 61-6-6272-5542 E-mail: cp@mail.apecsec.org.sg

E-mail: john.hartwell@dpie.gov.au

# **Human Resources Development**

Established in 1990, the Human Resources Development Working Group (HRDWG) covers a broad range of human resources development issues from basic education to industrial training to leadership and management for SMEs. Human Resources Development (HRD) is a priority issue in APEC — one of the APEC Economic Leaders' six priorities — and the HRDWG has a special role in furthering that priority.

There are five main areas of work undertaken by the HRDWG, each of which is managed by an HRD subgroup. The Business Management Network focuses on executive education and development. The Economic Development Management Network promotes the utilization of human resources in economic development. The Industrial Technology Network focuses on mutual recognition of professional standards, the provision of practical skills and the sharing of best practices on technical issues. The Education Forum focuses on how education systems in the APEC region prepare people for the needs of rapidly changing labor markets. Finally Labor Market Information serves as a forum for the exchange of information on labor market trends in the APEC region.

A Youth Network was formed in May 1997 to establish a network of young people in APEC economies to work together to create an electronic sourcebook/website on work, study and exchange opportunities in the APEC region.

Themes in which the HRDWG has had a special interest recently, but which also relate to matters dealt with by other APEC fora, include: HRD for Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs), HRD for Sustainable Development, and Lifelong Learning.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

A small number of individual firms and trade associations attend HRDWG meetings, including those of subsidiary networks, as part of member economies' delegations. Direct participation of the business sector centers on discussion of projects at network level. The business community has been involved in HRD events such as seminars and training programs, and has provided funding for some of these.

#### **Achievements**

The HRDWG, being one of the largest APEC Working Groups, has been involved in more than 80 projects to date, including centrally and self-funded projects. In addition, in 1997 it:

- Prepared the Statement of Medium Term Priorities for the APEC HRDWG; and
- Completed an Organizational Review of its mandate, priorities, and structure.

#### **Next Steps**

During 1998 the HRDWG will concentrate on more focused discussion, better coordination between HRD and other APEC fora, greater participation by youth, women and the business and private sector, better dissemination of project outcomes and results, and discussion of policy implications of projects implemented. The HRD Working Group will do follow-up work from the decisions of the Second HRD Ministerial Meeting in Seoul in September 1997.

The HRDWG will implement 38 projects in 1998, including ones with the following titles:

- APEC Chief Human Resources Officers' Network
- Examining How Workplace Safety and Health Contribute to Productivity (Phase1)
- Gender and Life long Learning: New Women Development in the Asia-Pacific for the 21<sup>st</sup> century
- Global Advantages through People: Human Resources Management Policies and Practices in APEC Economies
- Human Resources Management for cleaner Production Needs in APEC
- Internet and electronic Commerce: Training in Java Base Technology for APEC Economies
- · Linkages between Paid and Unpaid Work in Formulating HRD Policies
- SME Companies International Technology Conference MITEC '98
- Symposium on Overcoming Bottlenecks: Free and Open Labour Markets
- Trade and Investment Insurance Training Program '98
- APEC Youth Skills Camp
- Vocational Training Project in Cooperation with Enterprises

#### **Key Contacts**

#### **Lead Shepherd**

Ottawa, Ontario

Mr Stewart Goodings (until June 1998) Executive Director International Affairs Branch Human Resources Development Canada 360 Laurier Ave, West 7th Floor

K1A 0J9 Canada Tel: 1-613 941-1044 Fax: 1-613-941-4576

E-mail: stewart.goodings@spg.org

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Shaikh Fadilah Ahmad Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: sfa@mail.apecsec.org.sg

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Reynaldo A. Catapang Director (Program) (see address above)

E-mail: rc@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Industrial Science and Technology**

The Industrial Science and Technology Working Group (ISTWG) was formed at the APEC Ministerial Meeting in Singapore in 1990 as the Working Group on Expansion of Investment and Technology Transfer. It has changed its name several times since then. The working group operates within the formal framework of APEC and the policy directions set by Leaders, and is guided by statements of APEC Ministers responsible for science and technology.

The ISTWG's work program is based on the working group's vision for the twenty-first century of a dynamic and prosperous Asia-Pacific region built on the development and application of industrial science and technology that improves the quality of life while safeguarding the natural environment related to sustainable development.

The Working Group has the following key priorities: improved flows of technological information and technology; improved researcher exchange and human resources development in the field of industrial science and technology (IST); facilitation of joint research projects among APEC member economies; improved transparency of regulatory frameworks; contribution to sustainable development through environmentally friendly technologies; and enhanced policy dialogue and review by the ISTWG.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

Business representatives do not usually participate in the ISTWG meetings. However, there has been active business and private sector involvement in activities such as 'Technomart' held in Chinese Taipei (1998), and the inaugural meeting of the APEC Science and Technology Industrial Parks Network in Beijing (1997). The business and private sector is encouraged to participate in the ISTWG activities.

#### **Achievements**

The ISTWG issued the ISTWG *Handbook for Members* to ensure that its members are well briefed and that the group is effectively organized. The Handbook describes the current aims, policies, procedures, and practices of the group.

In addition to conducting a series of seminars, symposia and workshops, the ISTWG has completed several projects, including:

- 'Technomart';
- A study on available industrial science and technology indicators;
- A survey of relevant laws and regulations of APEC members governing trade and investment-related technology;
- Publication of various guide books on ISTWG-related matters including APEC Emerging Infections and APEC Network of Science and Technology Industrial Parks.

The ISTWG has created and will maintain the 'APEC Science and Technology Web' (AST Web) among member economies. The AST Web is on the Internet at <a href="http://www.apecst.org">http://www.apecst.org</a>

#### **Next Steps**

Several ISTWG projects are ongoing and will deliver outcomes in 1998. The continuing projects include Cleaner Production/Clear Technology Strategy; Gender and Science and Technology; and Asia-Pacific Youth Festival on Science and Technology.

#### **Key Contacts**

Lead Shepherd

Dr Rogelio A Panlasigui Director Industrial Technology Development Institute Department of Science and Technology Bicutan, Taguig, Metro Manila Republic of the Philippines

Tel: 63-2-837-6157 Fax: 63-2-837-3167

E-mail: rap@sun.1.dost.gov.ph

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Shin Jhong-Weon Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958

Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: sjw@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Marine Resource Conservation**

The Marine Resource Conservation Working Group (MRC) was launched in 1990. The objective of the working group is to promote initiatives in the APEC region which will protect the marine environment and its resources and ensure continuing socioeconomic benefits through maintenance of marine environmental quality.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

The APEC Action Plan for Sustainability of the Marine Environment, which was endorsed by the Environment Ministers (June 1997), will rely on significant participation from the business and private sector in meeting its objectives. Several new project proposals for 1998 have significant business and private sector involvement as sponsors or co-sponsors, which is a new development for this forum. An informal task force will examine possible guidelines for business and private sector participation to identify areas where this sector can contribute, as well as the mechanisms for its involvement.

#### **Achievements**

During 1997 the Working Group, among other things:

- Prepared an APEC Action Plan for Sustainability of the Marine Environment that identifies concrete actions to put the Strategy into practice. The Action Plan is built around three objectives identified in the Strategy: integrated approaches to coastal management; prevention, reduction and control of marine pollution; and sustainable management of marine resources.
- Assessed integrated coastal management approaches in APEC on regional, domestic and local scales. Among the resulting initiatives from this assessment were the

Ocean Model and Information System (OMISAR) project, which coordinates model development; collects, analyses and disseminates ocean information; and transfers skills and modelling technologies, and the launch of a new Ocean Research Network for the Pacific (ORNEP).

 Held an APEC Workshop on the Impact of Destructive Fishing Practices on the Marine Environment to address the issues of: destructive fishing practices, protection of the coral reef environment, promotion of environmentally-friendly fishing practices, and legislation, enforcement and management strategies.

#### **Next Steps**

During 1998 the MRC will:

- seek input from other APEC fora with respect to their concerns and commitments in the implementation of the *Action Plan for Sustainability of the Marine Environment*. Implementation of the *Action Plan* will support APEC Leaders' priorities with respect to the marine environment, including promoting environmentally sustainable growth, harnessing technologies for the future, and developing human capital.
- promote coordinated development of APEC's marine-related networks (OMISAR, ORNEP, the Sustainable Development Training and Information Network, and the EduNet Integrated Coastal Management network). Such coordination will facilitate the exchange of information to support decision-makers, and the implementation of joint research and monitoring programs to sustain and conserve marine resources.
- hold workshops on ocean information and data exchange; decommissioning of
  offshore oil and gas platforms; regional implementation of the Global Plan of Action
  for Land-based Sources of Pollution, and prevention of maritime accidents and
  pollution.

#### **Key Contacts**

#### **Lead Shepherd**

Dr Ampan Pintukanok Chief, Marine & Coastal Resources Sub-Division Environmental Policy & Planning Office Ministry of Science & Technology 60/1 Soi Phibunwattana 7, Rama VI Road Bangkok 10400, Thailand

Tel: 662-279-9182 / 279-5202

Fax: 662-271-3226

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Yang Yafei Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958

Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: yy@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Telecommunications**

The APEC Telecommunications Working Group (TEL) had its origins at the Senior Officials' Meeting in 1990. Under its first 'shepherd', the United States, the Group was charged to address human resources development; technology transfer and regional cooperation; opportunities for on-site visits, observerships and fellowships; and telecommunications standardization.

TEL activities are consistent with specific goals set out by APEC economic leaders in the 1994 *Bogor Declaration*. The work of the TEL is accomplished by four steering groups, which propose, implement and monitor projects and activities to advance the overall goals of APEC. Each steering group addresses a specific priority area. They are the Liberalization Steering Group; the Business Facilitation Steering Group; the Development Cooperation Steering Group; and the Human Resource Development Steering Group.

APEC Ministers responsible for the Telecommunications and Information Industry have met twice to review the work of the TEL, and to provide direction for the development of the Asia-Pacific Information Infrastructure (APII) project. At their first meeting in Seoul, Korea, in 1995, Ministers agreed on the objectives and ten core principles for the APII which are contained in the *Seoul Declaration*. At the second Ministerial meeting, held in Queensland, Australia, in 1996, Ministers made the *Gold Coast Declaration* which contained a Program for Action for the Telecommunications and Information sector in APEC economies. The Program for Action focuses on continuing liberalization efforts. The *Gold Coast* and the *Seoul Declarations* are available on the Internet at http://www.dca.gov.au/apec/mtgdocs.html

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

The business and private sector from many APEC member economies is actively involved in TEL activities, including all four TEL Steering Groups. The drive to complete a Model Mutual Recognition Arrangement (MRA) in telecommunications equipment has attracted significant business participation and support. Research and publications by the Steering Groups have been welcomed by businesses.

Since TEL 13 (March 1996), each meeting of the Working Group has included a Business—Government Dialogue, organized jointly with the Pacific Economic Cooperation Council (PECC), which provides an opportunity for the two sectors to engage in informal discussion on topics of mutual interest. At TEL 15, the Liberalization Steering Group accepted a PECC offer to review and report on the benefits of liberalization of Guidelines for Trade in International Value-added Network Services (IVANS) within APEC, which marks a new level of business and private sector involvement with the Working Group.

Leaders and Ministers stated at the Vancouver APEC meeting that electronic commerce is one of the most important technological breakthroughs of this decade. The TEL welcomed the proposition of PECC to have a seminar on this issue in conjunction with the 17<sup>th</sup> TEL meeting in Brunei in March 1998. The issue of business/private sector

participation in TEL activities will be further considered at the next TEL meeting in Brunei in March 1998.

Business and private sector participation in TEL meetings and activities is welcome. Individuals wishing to take part should approach the APEC TEL Point of Contact in their particular economy to discuss arrangements (see page 47 for a list of APEC offices in Member Economies).

#### **Achievements**

TEL completed more than 28 projects in 1997, including:

- Publication of the Guide to Regulatory Environments in APEC Member Economies.
- Creation of a pilot project for the establishment of a TEL website.

#### **Next Steps**

During 1998 the TEL will review and implement its work program for 1998. Following its 16th meeting held in Wellington, NZ in September 1997, the TEL had approximately 30 active projects and activities, 26 of which will be completed in 1998. Highlights include:

- A study by the Business Facilitation Steering Group of the legal and regulatory barriers to electronic commerce, and a major survey of the use of electronic commerce by small and medium-sized enterprises.
- Several projects to advance electronic commerce to benefit the business and private sector, and especially SMEs (awareness seminars, studies of legal and regulatory environments, interoperability tests, etc).
- Pilot projects to accelerate the development of multimedia and online services.
- Development of a Model Mutual Recognition Arrangement on Conformity Assessment for Telecommunications Equipment.
- Establishment of an APII Cooperation Centre in Korea, concentrating on advanced broadband applications testing and development.
- Establishment of the APII Technology Centre in Japan, concentrating on experimentation with advanced broadband communications networks.
- Distance learning projects and workshops and personnel exchange programs all to develop human resources for the telecommunications and information sector.

#### **Key Contacts**

#### Chair

Dr Keith Chang Director, International Business Development Spectrum, Information Technology and Telecommunications Sector Industry Canada

300 Slater Street, 18th Floor Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0C8 Canada

Tel: 1-613-990-4238 Fax: 1-613-990-3858

E-mail: chang.keith@ic.gc.ca

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Claudio Rojas Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: cr@mail.apecsec.org.sg

### **Tourism**

The Tourism Working Group (TWG) was formed in 1991 based on the recognition that the tourism industry is of growing importance in promoting economic growth and social development in the Asia-Pacific region. The TWG brings together tourism administrators to share information, exchange views and develop areas of cooperation on trade and policies. During 1998 Malaysia will chair the TWG.

#### **Business and Private Sector Participation**

Participation by the business and private sector has been channelled through the involvement of representative travel organizations such as the Pacific Asia Travel Association, the World Travel and Tourism Council and the World Tourism Organization. The TWG plans to expand participation of the business and private sector by enlarging the number of representatives invited to attend TWG meetings.

#### **Achievements**

Since its creation in 1991, the TWG has completed more than 10 projects. Highlight of the Group's 1997 accomplishments include:

• publication of *Tourism and the Environment, Best Practices, a Tourism Training Manual for Tourism*.

The TWG made significant strides in further defining its agenda and identifying priority issues. It has compiled a comprehensive inventory of barriers to travel in the APEC region and agreed to a series of collective actions to address impediments to tourism growth. Its work program includes activities in the areas of Trade and Investment Liberalization and Facilitation and Economic and Technical Cooperation.

#### **Next Steps**

The TWG's work program will focus on four specific themes:

- Facilitation of tourism movements and removal of travel barriers, including identification of all impediments to travel movements, identification and selection of manageable impediments for possible elimination or facilitation, and promotion of the economic importance of tourism in APEC economies.
- Promotion of tourism as a means to achieve sustainable economic development focusing on best business practices.
- Human resources development in the tourism industry through standardization of skills, identification of training needs over a projected period, and promotion of best business practices.
- Exchange of tourism information which focuses on: enhancing cooperation between
  the public sector and the business/private sector, establishment of effective means to
  exchange relevant information, support to cooperative programs, and access to
  communication networks.

The TWG is also interested in tourism issues that involve other APEC fora, such as those related to SMEs, transportation, the environment, technology, and youth.

**Key Contacts** 

TWG Chair

Mr Sharil bin Saat

Chair

Kementerian Kebudayaan, Kesenian dan

Pelancongan

(Ministry of Culture, Arts and Tourism)

Tingkat 6, 21, 34 – 36 Menara Dato' Onn

Pusat Dagangan Dunia Putra

45 Jalan Tun Ismail

50694 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Tel: 603 293 0678 Fax: 603 293 4789 **APEC Secretariat** 

Mr Claudio Rojas

Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road

#13-00 Alexandra Point

Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: cr@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Trade and Investment Data Review**

The objective of the Trade and Investment Data Review Working Group (TIDWG) is to improve the comparability among APEC member economies of published data on merchandise trade, trade in services, and international investment flows. TIDWG is working to minimize the discrepancies among APEC member economies in those statistics. More comparable data will allow a clearer understanding of the process of economic progress now occurring within the region.

## **Business and Private Sector Participation**

The business and private sector is not directly involved in the activities of the TIDWG, since TIDWG's work deals exclusively with statistical data from government sources.

#### **Achievements**

The Working Group has developed and maintained the Trade and Investment Data Database (TIDDB), which includes data on international merchandise trade, trade in services, and international investment.

## **Next Steps**

The Working Group will progressively expand the scope of the TIDDB to incorporate trade in services and foreign direct investment data. It will explore ways to establish linkages between the TIDDB and the APEC Tariff Database that was developed by the APEC Sub-committee on Customs Procedures (SCCP). The TIDWG is preparing to publish the TIDDB data so that it can be easily accessible and available to the public.

**Key Contacts** 

**Lead Shepherd** 

**APEC Secretariat** 

Mr Takashi Osanai Director Post Entry Examination and Customs Area Division Customs and Tariff Bureau Ministry of Finance 1-1 Kasumigaseki 3-chome, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo, 100 Japan

Tel: 81-3-3580-0870 Fax: 81-3-5251-2178 Mr Chirachai Punkrasin Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: cp@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Trade Promotion**

The Trade Promotion Working Group (TPWG) first met in Seoul in June 1990. Its objective is to contribute to sustained economic development and cooperation among member economies through trade promotion in the region. The Group's work centers on trade promotion activities, trade financing, trade skills and training, trade information, and business and private sector participation.

## **Business and Private Sector Participation**

Business representatives attend meetings as part of member economies' delegations and have influenced, via those delegations, trade promotion plans and programs. Since 1994, participants in delegations to the TPWG from the business community have also met separately as the Business Sub-Group and reported on their deliberations to TPWG. Business also participates in trade promotion activities such as APEC Trade Fairs. TPWG encouragement of business groups to establish a network among themselves helped launch the Asia-Pacific Business-Net (APB-Net), which has held annual meetings since 1994 and organized various events. The APB-Net meetings offer an important opportunity for business to meet and create joint ventures.

#### **Achievements**

In 1997, the TPWG organized an international trade fair in Yantai, Shandong, People's Republic of China. The TPWG has also compiled trade information about member economies and is in the process of developing an Internet version of that Directory.

## **Next Steps**

The TPWG is working to be more action-oriented and more focused, to achieve greater coordination with other working groups, and to consolidate its existing projects.

In 1998, the TPWG will encourage more business and private sector involvement in its activities generally and in TPWG's role as an information center conducive to business. The Group will do a joint project with the HRD Working Group on a 1998 version of the Trade and Investment Insurance Training Program (TILF-TIITP). The

TPWG will also finalize the APEC-Net and compilation of the *Trade Skills on Training* (*TSAT*) Course Catalogue (Republic of Korea).

## **Key Contacts**

## **Lead Shepherd**

Mr Ishak Shamsudin Director, Research and Trade Development Bureau Malaysia External Trade Development Corporation (MATRADE) 7<sup>th</sup> Floor, Wisma Sime Darby Jalan Raja Laut 50350 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Tel: 60-3-294-7259 Fax: 60-3-294-7363

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Sun Yuanjiang Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road # 13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: sy@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Transportation**

The Transportation Working Group (TPTWG) fosters economic development in the Asia-Pacific region through recommendations to increase the efficiency of the regional transportation system. The vast distances which characterize the Asia-Pacific region and the dynamic growth of its economies highlight the importance of an efficient transportation system to guarantee further development.

During 1997 the lead shepherd for the TPTWG was from the United States. The lead shepherd for 1998 is Mr Survanto of Indonesia, who will serve a two-year term.

## **Business and Private Sector Participation**

The business and private sector is an active participant in the TPTWG. Some economies regularly include business representatives as part of their delegations. TPTWG meetings are preceded by one-day seminars on transportation topics, to which business representatives are usually invited. Business has had limited influence on TPTWG plans and programs, though individual economies consult regularly with their private sector interests.

#### **Achievements**

Highlights of the TPTWG's achievements in 1997 included:

- Reconvening the Air Services Group (Singapore, October 1997) to prepare a report
  that analyzes and prioritizes the options previously identified by the Group, and
  recommends to Transportation Ministers which options should be developed and
  how they should be implemented.
- Development of a maritime initiative aimed at promoting an efficient, safe, and competitive operating environment for maritime transport, with the elaboration of a mission statement as the first step.

- · Establishment of maritime and road safety groups; and
- As a follow-up to the *Congestion Points Study*, establishment of an Intermodal Task Force to provide guidelines, standards, and provisional options associated with an integrated transport system in the region.

## **Next Steps**

Priority areas of the TPTWG include safe and environment-friendly transportation systems, trade facilitation, promotion of a more competitive transportation operating environment, infrastructure development, human resources development, and new transportation technologies. Specific projects the TPTWG will complete in 1998 include:

- Publication of a best practices manual based on findings arising from the Urban Transport Forum meetings (Seoul, Korea, 1996; Chinese Taipei, September 1997).
- Publication of an inventory of Oil Spills Preparedness and Response Arrangements in the APEC region.

## **Key Contacts**

## **Lead Shepherd**

Mr Suryanto
Office of the Secretariat General of Communication
Department of Communications
Jalan Merdeka Barat 8
Jakarta 11010, Indonesia

Tel: 62-21-385-2716 Fax: 62-21-385-2671

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Jose Barojas Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #14-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: jb@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# Policy Level Group on Small and Medium Enterprises

As a recommendation of the first APEC Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) Ministers' Meeting held in Osaka in October 1994, the Ad Hoc Policy Level Group on SMEs (PLGSMEs) was established in February 1995. Its first meeting, held in Jakarta in April 1995, was dedicated to drafting an action program on SMEs to contribute to the APEC Action Agenda. Providing support to SMEs is a priority of the *Bogor Declaration* as an essential element for economic development. In 1996 the APEC Senior Officials approved the proposal to renew the mandate of the PLGSMEs for two more years (from April 1997 to March 1999).

The SME Ministers met in Ottawa, September 1997 and committed their economies to create business environments that will address to the special needs of SME's. Many activities related to SMEs are undertaken by the various APEC fora. The PLGSME has developed a *Framework for APEC SME Activities* for consideration by all APEC fora in

designing and implementing SME-related activities. The PLGSMEs is chaired by Malaysia in 1998.

## **Business and Private Sector Participation**

There are diverse types of private sector participation in APEC SME activities. For example, in conjunction with each year's Ministerial meeting, an SME Business Forum and Exposition takes place. About 1,000 businesses participated in the 1997 APEC SME Business Forum and Exposition in Ottawa. There was a joint session between SME Ministers and the private sector, represented by 54 (roughly three per economy) of the participants from the Business Forum, business associations, the Women Leaders' Network and the Young Entrepreneurs' Seminar. In addition, the Women Leaders Network consisting of women entrepreneurs within the APEC region met just prior to the SME Ministerial (Ottowa 1997) to provide input on gender issues in SME activities. Various individual SME projects involve SME participation, via surveys such as in the trade-financing project; through participation in training programs; and by attending seminars and workshops.

The 1998 SME Business Forum and Exposition will be held in conjunction with the next SME Ministerial Meeting on 10-11 September 1998 in Kuala Lumpur.

## **Achievements**

Accomplishments during 1997 included:

- Development and endorsement by SME Ministers of the *Framework for APEC SME Activities*. This will help APEC for maximize the benefit of their activities to SMEs.
- Publication of the compendium *Helping your Business Grow: Guide for SMEs in the APEC Region*, which identifies APEC initiatives of specific utility to SMEs; it is available on the APEC homepage at http://www.apec.org.sg
- Work on 20 SMEPLG projects.

## **Next Steps**

The next steps for 1998 are encapsulated in the *SME Action Plan* which was endorsed by SME Ministers in September 1997 and includes 13 PLGSME projects that will take place in 1998. These initiatives include measures proposed by APEC export credit agencies to improve access to trade financing; the creation of a distance learning training program; the establishment of certification standards for small business counsellors; and the promotion of gender-sensitive policies to improve equality for women entrepreneurs.

#### **Key Contacts**

#### Chair

Mr Kalsom Abdul Rahman Chief Executive Officer, SIMDEC 9<sup>th</sup> Floor, Block 10 Government Offices Complex Jalan Duta 50622 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

#### **APEC Secretariat**

Mr Rosalind Coleman Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880 Tel: 603-651-0033 Fax: 65-276-1775

Fax: 603-925-9119 E-mail: rkc@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# Agricultural Technical Cooperation Experts Group

In recognition of the importance of work on agricultural technical cooperation, the Agricultural Technical Cooperation Experts Group (ATC) was established in November 1996 as a formal APEC body with a continuing role. Prior to that decision, two meetings of experts had been held. The meetings (in Chinese Taipei 1995, and Australia 1996) agreed upon a work program of joint activities to enhance agriculture's contribution to the region's economic growth and social wellbeing and developed a framework for undertaking those cooperative activities.

The ATC's work program focuses on seven priority areas: conservation and utilization of plant and animal genetic resources; research, development and extension of agricultural biotechnology; marketing, processing and distribution of agricultural products; plant and animal quarantine and pest management; cooperative development of an agricultural finance system; agricultural technology transfer and training; and sustainable agriculture.

## **Business and Private Sector Participation**

Representatives of the business and private sector are able to participate as members of their economy's delegation and are invited to collaborate in the cooperative activities undertaken by the ATC. The ATC will continue to coordinate closely with the PECC Food and Agricultural Forum to support PECC's activities, obtain advice, and ensure that work is not duplicated.

#### **Achievements**

Highlights of the ATC's accomplishments during 1997 include:

- A workshop on Agricultural Biotechnology (Canberra, Australia, March 1997).
- A workshop on Conservation and Utilization of Plant and Animal Genetic Resources (Chinese Taipei, March 1997).
- A seminar on Agricultural Finance Systems (Chinese Taipei, March 1997).
- Development of an ATC homepage (see http://www.dpie.gov.au/dpie/apec/atc).
- Support for PECC's Trade Facilitation Manual (see <a href="http://www.pecc.org">http://www.pecc.org</a> under Food and Agricultural Forum).

## **Next Steps**

The ATC's areas of focus for the future include the establishment of new networks and databases and the organization of workshops in the priority areas set by its work program. For example, the ATC will establish an agricultural credit information network; a database to enable researchers and breeders to access information on plant and animal genetic resources; and a database for information concerning institutions in the region involved in agricultural technology transfer, training facilities, and courses. The proposed workshops will discuss biotechnology risk assessment, agricultural finance, sustainable agriculture, pest risk analysis, and plant and animal genetic resources.

## **Key Contacts**

**Lead Shepherd** 

Dr Te-Yeh Ku Secretary General Council of Agriculture Chinese Taipei 37, Nanhai Road Taipei, Chinese Taipei 100

Tel: 886-2-383-2607

Fax: 886-2-312-4627 (or 312-5812) E-mail: <u>susan@mail.coa.gov.tw</u> **APEC Secretariat** 

Mr Chirachai Punkrasin Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: cp@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# Sustainable Development

The APEC Leaders' *Economic Vision Statement* at Blake Island, Seattle in November 1993 stated, 'Our environment is improved as we protect the quality of our air, water and green spaces and manage our energy resources and renewable resources to ensure sustainable growth and provide a more secure future for our people.' This statement provides the mandate for APEC's work on sustainable development.

Ministers of the Environment met in Canada in March 1994 and adopted an *Environmental Vision Statement* and a *Framework of Principles* for integrating economic and environment issues. The APEC Economic Leaders' Declaration for Action issued during the Leaders' Meeting in Osaka in November 1995 reaffirmed the integration of environment and sustainable development into APEC activities.

The Chair in 1998 is Malaysia.

## **Business and Private Sector Participation**

At the Environment Ministers Meeting for Sustainable Development in Toronto, Canada (June 1997), an APEC Business and Municipal Leaders' Forum on Sustainable Cities was held. The meeting attracted participants from all APEC economies and provided an opportunity for APEC business and municipal leaders to give input into the deliberations of the Environment Ministers' meeting. The three-day forum on Sustainable Cities incorporated eight workshops: air pollution, water and wastewater management, waste

management, cleaner production, public-private partnerships, privatization of environmental services, policy and regulatory reform, and financing strategies.

#### **Achievements**

The Ministerial Meeting in Toronto (9–11 June 1997) included the following outcomes:

- Ministers commended the Industrial Science and Technology (IST) Working Group
  on its Cleaner Production Strategy and the Marine Resource Conservation (MRC)
  Working Group for its Action Plan on Marine Sustainability and directed
  environment officials to continue to work with colleagues from other APEC fora on
  the commitments and activities outlined in these documents.
- Ministers endorsed a Program of Action for Sustainable Cities.
- APEC Senior Officials will annually review sustainable development work in APEC to coordinate activities and provide guidance to APEC fora.

## **Next Steps**

Senior Environment Officials will meet periodically in coordination with joint fora meetings to assist in integrating the promotion of sustainable development across all APEC activities.

#### **Key Contacts**

Chair

Malaysia to designate

**APEC Secretariat** 

Ms Rosalind Coleman Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958

Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: rkc@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **TILF Special Account**

At the Economic Leaders' Meeting in Osaka in 1995, the members adopted an Action Agenda for the implementation of the Bogor commitment to achieve free and open trade and investment in the Asia-Pacific region no later than the year 2020. As the member economies proceed to meet their trade and investment liberalization and facilitation commitments, their efforts are enhanced through cooperative projects supported by APEC.

While respecting the individual efforts of member economies, Japan proposed at the Osaka Leaders' Meeting in 1995 to contribute, where necessary, up to 10 billion yen to

the APEC Central Fund over the coming several years for use in appropriate cooperative projects formulated in support of trade and investment liberalization and facilitation.

## **Business and Private Sector Participation**

The business and private sector is not directly involved in the operation of the Trade and Investment Liberalization and Facilitation (TILF) Special Account, since this is an area of budgetary administration of APEC funds.

#### **Achievements**

The SOM II in Cebu in May 1996 approved the setting up of the TILF Special Account within the APEC Central Fund from 1997. Since then, the Secretariat has coordinated with various APEC fora on project proposals under this account and worked closely with the BAC to clarify procedures for the account.

The BAC approved 26 projects for 1997 TILF funding, amounting to approximately US\$3.7 million. On 15 May 1997, Japan transferred the contribution to the TILF Special Account amounting to approximately US\$4.2 million.

Thirty proposals, totaling approximately US\$4.4 million, were submitted for 1998 TILF funding. The BAC approved 27 of the proposals, totaling about US\$3.6 million.

## **Next Steps**

The TILF projects are required to be of good quality, demonstrate clear TILF linkage and have participation by APEC economies. The TILF linkage will be in line with the 15 areas listed in Part 1, Section C and, where appropriate, Part 2 of the *Osaka Action Agenda*. See the CTI introduction (page 1 of this Update) for a list of the 15 areas.

## **Key Contact**

**APEC Secretariat** 

Mr Shinya Aoki Director (Program) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958

Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: sa@mail.apecsec.org.sg

## **Public Affairs**

The Public Affairs unit at the APEC Secretariat is responsible for media and public relations, production and sale of publications, and maintenance of the APEC library. Disseminating information about APEC is essential to achieve APEC's goal of free and

open trade and investment in the region by 2010 for industrialized economies and 2020 for developing economies. Governments will only be able to implement the policies that make free trade and investment a reality if their populations support APEC and understand how its work benefits them.

## **Business and Private Sector Participation**

Many APEC fora create publications that are specifically targeted to meet needs of the business and private sector. The Secretariat actively markets APEC publications through the various APEC business networks and the Study Centres. In addition, APEC publications are frequently sponsored by businesses. A complete list of APEC's publications and an order form are available from the Secretariat and on the APEC homepage at <a href="http://www.apec.org.sg">http://www.apec.org.sg</a>

The Secretariat provides numerous briefings on APEC's work to visiting businesses and academic groups. It hosts visits to the Library, by appointment. In late 1997 APEC Senior Officials decided to make most APEC documents public. Implementation of this decision should facilitate greater business and private sector participation in all areas of APEC's work.

The Secretariat is interested in receiving your comments about APEC publications and the APEC website; please e-mail them to Ms Ann Low at <a href="mailto:aml@mail.apecsec.org.sg">aml@mail.apecsec.org.sg</a>. In addition, recommendations from member economies about appropriate sales outlets for APEC publications could greatly enhance our outreach efforts and publication sales.

#### **Achievements**

During 1997, the APEC Secretariat published 23 books. This represented a 28 percent increase in the number of books published versus 1996, and it brought the total number of titles APEC has for sale to 124. Revenues from publication sales increased 58 percent versus 1996 due to successful marketing efforts and production of particularly relevant publications by APEC fora. One particularly popular publication is *The Congestion Points Study Phase III: Best Practices Manual and Technical Report*, which identifies common transportation problems faced by APEC economies and serves as a basis for measurement to reduce bottlenecks in the region.

Other achievements in the Public Affairs area during 1997 included: development of an outreach strategy for media and public relations; compilation of an inventory of APEC publications and implementation of procedures to manage that inventory; a survey of APEC members and observers to improve the content of this publication (*Update of Activities within APEC*); a survey of journalists in member economies to make APEC's outreach efforts more targeted and cost effective; and commencement of work on redesigning the APEC website.

## **Next Steps**

During 1998, the Secretariat will begin management of APEC publications through the use of a database. This will facilitate collection and analysis of information about publication sales, which will enhance marketing efforts. The Secretariat will implement the redesign plan for the APEC website. The new design will facilitate APEC outreach efforts by making information about APEC more accessible to Internet users.

Other important projects include: 1) development of a detailed marketing plan for APEC publications based on sales data that will be collected and advice from APEC fora about target audiences for their publications; 2) pursuit of agreements to distribute APEC publications via electronic data service providers and through book seller agreements;

and 3) establishment of an archive of public affairs information from APEC host economies to facilitate outreach efforts by member economies.

## **Key Contact**

**APEC Secretariat** 

Ms Ann Low Director (Public Affairs) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958

Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: aml@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Communications and Database System**

One of the Secretariat's mandates given by the APEC Ministers is to establish direct and regular communications between the APEC Secretariat and APEC members, Lead Shepherds of Working Groups, and Committees. There is also a need to create an information repository at the APEC Secretariat to facilitate the movement and storage of APEC-related information. This information needs to be accessible to users in each member economy either in hard copy form or in electronic format.

In 1993, APEC Senior Officials approved the proposal to set up the APEC Communications and Database System (ACDS) to fulfill the communication mandate and data requirements. The whole system was fully operational in late 1994. An Internet website was set up subsequently in 1996. Now, users can access a wide range of information including the APEC calendar of events and documents from meetings (for example, the Leaders' Meetings and Ministerial Meetings) on the APEC website at <a href="http://www.apecsec.org.sg">http://www.apecsec.org.sg</a>

## **Business and Private Sector Participation**

The business and private sector is not involved in the communications and database system since it is developed and maintained by the APEC Secretariat.

## **Achievements**

- All APEC members, working groups, committees and the private sector can easily communicate with the Secretariat either by fax or e-mail. Users can access selected APEC documents through the APEC Secretariat's homepage.
- The new database (*APEC Projects Database*) is now under the data entry stage and will be operational soon. This database will contain summary information of all approved APEC projects and will be a good management tool for working groups and committees.

## **Next Steps**

The Secretariat will continue to maintain the communication system and to update the related databases to keep the data current. This will be an on-going process. The Secretariat will also implement the redesign plan for the APEC website.

## **Key Contact**

**APEC Secretariat** 

Mr Terry Lee Tsong-Guey Director (Information Systems) 438 Alexandra Road #13-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958

Tel: 65-276-1880 Fax: 65-276-1775

E-mail: tl@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **Research and Analysis**

In November 1996, Ministers approved the recommendations of the Task Force on Management Issues (TFMI) concerning the Secretariat's role in Research and Analysis (R&A). The TFMI recommended that the Secretariat not develop a comprehensive R&A capability. The approach should be collaboration in R&A with APEC Study Centers and PECC. The Secretariat should coordinate, oversee and undertake, where necessary, a limited amount of R&A work, as requested and in direct support of APEC fora. The Secretariat should respond to requests for additional tasking on a case-by-case basis, after determining whether there is in-house capability or whether it should be contracted out. Ministers agreed that the TFMI's recommendations should also govern the R&A implications of the EC and CTI work.

The main objective of R&A in the Secretariat is to support APEC fora in information gathering and policy analysis, and to assist in maximizing resource collaboration and minimizing research redundancy. The scope of R&A work in the Secretariat is limited. It may encompass background information papers, literature review (including literature on APEC), current awareness of relevant regional and global developments, integration of cross-sectoral issues; synthesis of comparative studies, and analysis of policy options. These guidelines which govern the scope of R&A work performed by the Secretariat are contained in the information paper *Towards Guidelines and Priorities on Research and Analysis in APEC Secretariat* which was circulated and discussed at the Joint Fora meeting in February 1997.

## **Business and Private Sector Participation**

In accordance with the decentralized nature of R&A, the extent of business and private sector participation in R&A is determined at the level of committees and working

groups. The APEC Secretariat does collaborative R&A work with PECC and APEC Study Centers.

#### **Achievements**

APEC has defined the mandate, objectives and scope of R&A in the Secretariat. R&A projects during 1997 included:

- Establishment of a projects database, which serves as an important management tool for R&A coordination;
- Updating APEC SMEs' profiles in general and their customs procedures and administrations in particular;
- Implementing the TILF Information Directory project;
- Liaising with PECC and APEC Study Centres; and
- Exploring the feasibility of institutional R&A linkages with several like-minded international organizations.

## **Next Steps**

The APEC Secretariat will assist APEC fora, based on the TILF Information Directory, in facilitating R&A collaboration; and assist the BAC, based on the Projects Database, in identifying potential R&A duplication and in evaluating possible R&A collaboration to achieve optimal resource allocation. The APEC Secretariat will continue providing R&A support to APEC fora on a case-by-case basis.

## **Key Contact**

## **APEC Secretariat**

Dr Mignon Chan Director (Research & Analysis) 438 Alexandra Road #14-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958

Tel: (65) 276-1880 Fax: (65) 276-1775

E-mail: mc@mail.apecsec.org.sg

## **Study Centres Consortium**

The APEC Study Centres were established as part of the Leaders' Initiative at the Blake Island meeting of APEC Leaders in 1993. Their purpose is to promote interdisciplinary and policy-relevant research from an independent and long-term perspective; facilitate exchanges of students and faculty among APEC economies; provide opportunities for mutually beneficial training, and foster understanding of the Asia-Pacific region through informed participation of other sectors of society.

There are now APEC Study Centres in 16 economies; the remaining two economies (Brunei and Papua New Guinea) plan to establish study centres in the near future.

The study centre concept is implemented flexibly. Each APEC member participates voluntarily in line with its needs and is responsible for managing its individual contribution, including program funding.

## **Business and Private Sector Participation**

The Study Centres themselves represent important academic communities in their respective economies and as such the consortium is almost entirely composed of scholars. The business sector is not directly involved in the activities of the APEC Study Centres consortium.

#### **Achievements**

The Study Centres promote dialogue between government policy-makers and the academic community. The Study Centres:

- promote the study of regional economic issues and the setting up a network of research institutions and scholars working on APEC themes throughout the region.
- held their fifth annual conference in Banff, Alberta, Canada from May 22 to May 24.
   The conference consisted of an academic conference to feed ideas from the Study Centres into the APEC process, a business meeting, and a graduate student forum designed to encourage the next generation of scholars and leaders. There were more than 130 participants from 17 economies.
- are exploring the possibility of an APEC Reader a collection of articles on APEC
   — for use by scholars and the public; the Study Centres will review existing
   exchange programs to identify opportunities for joint exchanges; and they will
   present a report to the Senior Officials' Meeting on their activities.
- presented a report to Leaders and Ministers at Vancouver in 1997 on achievements and activities.
- are continuing their unique and independent role in the APEC structure and will be
  open to considering adopting research work as suggested by various fora in APEC.

## **Next Steps**

The APEC Study Centres Consortium will continue to develop its role within the APEC structure, and particularly to establish collaborative research projects as a means of strengthening networks in the region. It will work closely with the APEC Education Foundation in supporting research and education activities.

#### **Key Contacts**

## **Study Centres Consortium**

Prof. Ishak Saari
Director
Institute of Malaysian & International
Studies
University Kebangsaan Malaysia
43600 Bangi, Selangor, Malaysia

Tel: 603-825-6087 Fax: 603-826-1022 **APEC Secretariat** 

Dr Mignon Chan Director (Research and Analysis) 438 Alexandra Road #14-00 Alexandra Point Singapore 119958 Tel: 65-276-1880

Tel: 65-276-1775

E-mail: mc@mail.apecsec.org.sg

# **APEC Contacts**

Inquiries about APEC may be directed to the Secretariat or to the following officials.

## **Member Economies (18):**

#### Australia

Director, Regional Economic Section APEC Branch Economic and Trade Development Division Department of Foreign Affairs & Trade Canberra ACT 2600

Telephone: 61-6-6261-2150 Facsimile: 61-6-6261-3009

## **Brunei Darussalam**

Permant Secretary Ministry of Industry and Primary Resources Jalan Menteri Besar Bandar Seri Begawan, 1220

Telephone: 637-2-381-687 Facsimile: 673-2-383-811

#### Canada

Director, Asia Pacific Regional Coordination Div. Dept of Foreign Affairs & International Trade Lester B Pearson Building 125 Sussex Drive

Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0G2 Telephone: 1-613-996-0980 Facsimile: 1-613-944-2732

#### Chile

Head, APEC Department General Directorate of Intern'l Economic Affairs Ministry of Foreign Affairs Alameda #1315, 2o. Piso Santiago

Telephone: 56-2-696-0043 Facsimile: 56-2-696-0639

## People's Republic of China

Chief of Asia-Pacific Division Department of International Organizations Ministry of Foreign Affairs No. 2 Chaoyangmen Nandajie Beijing 100701

Telephone: 86-10-6596-3162 Facsimile: 86-10-6596-3120

## Hong Kong, China

Assistant Director-General of Trade (Regional Cooperation), Trade Department Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region 18/F, Trade Department Tower 700 Nathan Road, Kowloon

Telephone: 852-2398-5305 Facsimile: 852-2787-7799

#### Indonesia

Director of Economic Relations Among Developing Countries Department of Foreign Affairs Jalan Pejambon No. 6 Jakarta Pusat 10110

Telephone: 62-21-381-1083 Facsimile: 62-21-384-4867

#### Japan

Director

Developing Economies and APEC Division Economic Affairs Bureau Ministry of Foreign Affairs 2-2-1, Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100

Telephone: 81-3-3581-5794 Facsimile: 81-3-3592-0504

Director, Office for the Promotion of APEC International Trade Policy Bureau Ministry of International Trade and Industry 1-3-1, Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100

Telephone: 81-3-3501-1655 Facsimile: 81-3-3501-1592

#### Republic of Korea

Director, Economic Cooperation Division 1 Ministry of Foreign Affairs 146-1 Susong Dong, Chongro-ku Seoul 110-755

Telephone: 82-2-738-4380-1 Facsimile: 82-2-733-7588

## Malaysia

Director, APEC Affairs Ministry of International Trade and Industry 3rd Floor, Block 10, Government Complex,

Jalan Duta, 50622 Kuala Lumpur Telephone: 60-3-651-0033 Facsimile: 60-3-653-1293

#### Mexico

Director General, Asia and Pacific Economic Affairs

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Ricardo Flores Magon Numero 1 - Piso 16

Tlatelolco, D.F.

Telephone: 52-5-327-3507 Facsimile: 52-5-117-4218

#### New Zealand

Director, APEC Division Ministry of Foreign Affairs & Trade Private Bag 18901, Wellington Telephone: 64-4-473-2055 Facsimile: 64-4-473-2124

## Papua New Guinea

Deputy Secretary (Operations) Department of Foreign Affairs P. O. Box 422, Waigani N.C.D. Telephone: 675-300-1231/1236 Facsimile: 675-325-4886

## Republic of the Philippines

Special Assistant Office of Undersecretary Lourdes O. Yparraguirre Department of Foreign Affairs 2330 Roxas Boulevard, Pasay City

Telephone: 63-2-834-4741 Facsimile: 63-2-834-1451

Facsimile: 511-426-0130

## **Singapore**

Director, Trade Policy Ministry of Trade and Industry 100 High Street #09-01, The Treasury

Singapore 179434 Telephone: 65-323-9249 Facsimile: 65-334-8135

## **Chinese Taipei**

Section Chief for APEC Affairs
Department of International Organizations
Ministry of Foreign Affairs
2 Kaitakelan Blvd, Taipei
Telephone: 886-2-2316-1551
Facsimile: 886-2-2361-7694

#### **Thailand**

Director-General
Department of Economic Affairs
Ministry of Foreign Affairs
Saranrom Palace, Sanarmchai Road

Bangkok 10200

Telephone: 66-2-225-7385 Facsimile: 66-2-226-1841

## **United States of America**

Director, Office of Economic Policy Bureau of East Asian and Pacific Affairs U.S. Department of State 2201 C Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20520 Telephone: 1-202-647-4835 Facsimile: 1-202-647-0136

## **Members Designate (3):**

The following three economies will become full members at the APEC Ministerial Meeting, November 14 to 15, 1998 in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

#### Peru

Director and Minister Counsellor Asia Pacific Directorate Directorate General for Intern'l Economic Affairs Ministry of Foreign Affairs Jiron Lampa 535, Lima 1 Telephone: 511-427-3860

## Russia

Executive Director Russian Inter-Ministerial Commission on APEC Ministry of Foreign Affairs 32/34 Smolenskaya-Sennaya 121200 Moscow

Telephone: 7-095-241-2898 Facsimile: 7-095-253-9088

## Vietnam

Ambassador Embassy of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam 10 Leedon Park Singapore 267887

Telephone: 65-462-5938 Facsimile: 65-462-5936

## **APEC Official Observers (3):**

# **Association of South East Asian Nation** (ASEAN)

Secretary General ASEAN Secretariat 70A Jalan Sisingamangaraja P O Box 2072, Kebayoran Baru Jakarta, Indonesia

Telephone: 6221-726-2991 Facsimile: 6221-739-8234

## **South Pacific Forum (SPF)**

Secretary General South Pacific Forum Secretariat G P O Box 856 Suva, Fiji

Telephone: 679-312-600 Facsimile: 679-312-226

# **Pacific Economic Cooperation Council** (PECC)

Director General PECC Secretariat 4 Nassim Road Singapore 258372 Telephone: 65-737-9823

Facsimile: 65-737-9824

# **Abbreviations**

ABAC APEC Business Advisory Council

ACDS APEC Communications and Database System

ADB Asian Development Bank AFTA ASEAN Free Trade Area

ANZCERTA Australia New Zealand Closer Economic Relations Trade Agreement

APB-Net Asia-Pacific Business Network

APEC Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation

APII Asia Pacific Information Infrastructure

ASEAN Association of South-East Asian Nations

AST APEC Science and Technology

ATC Agricultural Technical Cooperation Experts' Group

BAC Budget and Administrative Committee

CAP Collective Action Plans
COW Committee of the Whole

CTI Committee on Trade and Investment
DMEG Dispute Mediation Experts' Group

EC Economic Committee

ECOTECH Economic and Technical Cooperation

EU European Union

EWG Energy Working Group

FEEEP Impact of Expanding Population and Economic Growth on Food, Energy

and the Environment

FWG Fisheries Working Group

GATS General Agreement on Trade in Services

GOS Group on Services

GP Government Procurement

GPEG Government Procurement Experts' Group
HACCP Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points

HRD Human Resources Development

HRDWG Human Resources Development Working Group

HS Convention Harmonised Commodity Description and Coding System

IAP Individual Action Plan

ICC International Chamber of Commerce

IEG Investment Experts' Group

ILO International Labour Organisation
 IMF International Monetary Fund
 IPR Intellectual Property Rights
 IST Industrial Science and Technology

ISTWG Industrial Science and Technology Working Group

IVANS Guidelines for Trade in International Value-added Network Services

LAIA Latin American Integration Association

LMI Labour Market Information

MAG Market Access Group
MFN Most Favoured Nation

MRA Mutual Recognition Arrangement MRC Marine Resource Conservation

NAFTA North American Free Trade Agreement

NTM Non-tariff Measures OAA Osaka Action Agenda

OAS Organization of American States

OECD Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development

OMISAR Ocean Model and Information System
ORNEP Ocean Research Network for the Pacific
PECC Pacific Economic Cooperation Council

PLGSMEs Policy Level Group on SMEs

R & A Research and Analysis

SCCP Sub-committee on Customs Procedures

SCSC Sub-committee on Standards and Conformance

SMEs Small and Medium Enterprises
SOM Senior Officials' Meeting
SPF South Pacific Forum

SPS Agreement on the Application of Sanitary and Phytosanitary Measures

TBT Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade
TEL Telecommunications Working Group
TFMI Task Force on Management Issues

TIDWG Trade and Investment Data Review Working Group

TIDDB Trade and Investment Data Database

TIITP Trade and Investment Insurance Training Program
TILF Trade and Investment Liberalization and Facilitation

TPWG Trade Promotion Working Group
TPTWG Transportation Working Group

TRIMS Agreement on Trade-related Investment Measures

TRIPS Agreement on Trade-related Aspects of Intellectual Property

TSAT Trade Skills on Training
TWG Tourism Working Group

UN/EDIFACT United Nations Rules for Electronic Data Interchange for

Administration, Commerce and Transport

UNCTAD United Nations Conference on Trade and Development

UR Uruguay Round

WCO World Customs Organization

WG Working Group

WGTP Working Group on Trade Promotion

WTO World Trade Organization

# **Index**

	Page No
<u>A</u>	
APEC Business Advisory Council (ABAC)	
APEC Communications and Database System (ACDS)	. 41-42
ASEAN Free Trade Area (AFTA)	. 4
Australia New Zealand Closer Economic Relations Trade Agreement (ANZCERTA)	4
Asia-Pacific Business Network (APB-Net)	
Asia Pacific Information Infrastructure (APII)	
Association of South-East Asian Nations (ASEAN)	
APEC Science and Technology (AST)	
Agricultural Technical Cooperation Experts' Group (ATC) <b>B</b>	. 36-3/
Budget and Administrative Committee (BAC)	19-20 39 43
C	. 17 20, 37, 13
Collective Action Plans (CAP)	1 4
Committee on Trade and Investment (CTI)	
<u>D</u>	,
Database	1, 37, 41-42, 43
Dispute Mediation Experts' Group (DMEG)	
E	
Economic Committee (EC)	. 17-18
Economic and Technical Cooperation (ECOTECH)	
Energy Working Group (EWG)	
<u>F</u>	
Financial crisis	. <b>v</b>
Fisheries Working Group (FWG)	. 22-23
Food, Energy and the Environment (FEEEP), Impact of Economic Growth on	. 17, 18
$\underline{\mathbf{G}}$	
General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS)	. 4
Group on Services (GOS)	. 4-5
Government Procurement (GP)	
Government Procurement Experts' Group (GPEG)	. 11
<u>H</u>	
Human Resources Development (HRD)	23-24, 33
Human Resources Development Working Group (HRDWG)	. 23-24
Harmonised Commodity Description and Coding System (HS Convention)	. 3, 8
<u>I</u>	
Individual Action Plan (IAP)	. 1, 11
Investment Experts' Group (IEG)	
Intellectual Property Rights (IPR)	. 9
Industrial Science and Technology (IST)	. 25, 38
Industrial Science and Technology Working Group (ISTWG)	

<u>M</u>	
Market Access Group (MAG)	2, 3
Most Favoured Nation (MFN)	. 4
Mutual Recognition Arrangement (MRA)	1, 7, 28
Marine Resource Conservation (MRC)	26-27, 38
<u>N</u>	
North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA)	. 4
Non-tariff Measures (NTM)	2-3
<u>o</u>	
Osaka Action Agenda (OAA)	. 4
Ocean Model and Information System (OMISAR)	. 27
<u>P</u>	
Pacific Economic Cooperation Council (PECC)1, 3, 10, 12, 17, 20, 28,	36, 37, 42, 43, 49
Policy Level Group on SMEs (PLGSMEs)	
Public Affairs	40-41
Publications	40-41
<u>R</u>	
Research and Analysis (R&A)	42-43
<u>s</u>	
Sub-committee on Customs Procedures (SCCP)	7-8, 31
Sub-committee on Standards and Conformance (SCSC)	6-7
Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs)	30, 34-36, 43
Senior Officials' Meeting (SOM)	v, 4, 19, 39
South Pacific Forum (SPF)	49
<u>T</u>	
Telecommunications Working Group (TEL)	28-29
Task Force on Management Issues (TFMI)	. 42
Trade and Investment Data Review Working Group (TIDWG)	31-32
Trade and Investment Data Database (TIDDB)	. 31
Trade and Investment Insurance Training Program (TIITP)	. 33
Trade and Investment Liberalization and Facilitation (TILF)4, 7, 18, 33	3, 39, 43
Trade Promotion Working Group (TPWG)	32-33
Transportation Working Group (TPTWG)	33-34
Trade-related Aspects of Intellectual Property (TRIPS), Agreement on	8,9
Tourism Working Group (TWG)	30-31
<u>U</u>	
United Nations Rules for Electronic Data Interchange for Administration,	
Commerce and Transport (UN/EDIFACT)	. 8
Uruguay Round (UR)	
<u>w</u>	
Website, APEC	vi, 40-42
World Customs Organization (WCO)	. 13
World Trade Organization (WTO)	11, 13, 14, 16

## UPDATE OF ACTIVITIES WITHIN APEC **SURVEY FORM**

	(Please write inf	ormation below or attach a business card)
Please return the completed form	Your Name:	
APEC Secretariat	Organization	
Attn. Director (Public Affairs)	Address:	
438 Alexandra Road	Address.	
#14-00. Alexandra Point		
Singapore 119958		
Fax: (65)276-1775	Fax:	
Email:aml@mail.apecsec.org.sg	Email:	
<u> </u>	ешап.	
Website: <a href="http://www.apecsec.org.sg">http://www.apecsec.org.sg</a>		
<ol> <li>Do you use the Internet version of tyou have any suggestions about how</li> </ol>	the <i>UPDATE</i> ava	ilable at http://www.apecsec.org.sg? Do
2. Did you like the format of the <i>UPD</i> improved?	ATE? Do you ha	ve any suggestions about how it might be
3. Did you find the content of the <i>UPL</i> content might be improved?	DATE useful? Do	you have any suggestions about how the
CORRECTIONS:		
Please use this space to provide corrections will be r included in the next edition.		es to contact information contained in this net version of this publication and
	ND ORDER FO	OULD LIKE TO RECEIVE AN APEC RM. They are also available on the APEC Update 98